# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Supreme Court No. QIUGG-9

(Court of Appeals Cause No. 70414-1-I)



### REED TAYLOR,

Respondent,

٧.

SCOTT BELL and JANE DOE BELL, and their marital community; FRANK TAYLOR and JANE DOE TAYLOR, and their marital community; CAIRNCROSS & HEMPELMANN, a Professional Service Corporation,

Petitioners.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

One Union Square 600 University St., 27th Fl. Seattle, WA 98101-3143 (206) 467-1816 McNAUL EBEL NAWROT & HELGREN PLLC Gregory J. Hollon, WSBA No. 26311 Avi J. Lipman, WSBA No. 37661

Attorneys for Petitioners



# **

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Scott and Jane Doe Bell, Frank and Jane Doe Taylor, and
Cairncross & Hempelmann (collectively, "Cairncross"), Respondents in
the Court of Appeals and Defendants in the trial court, are the Petitioners.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Cairncross seeks review of the December 29, 2014, published decision of the Court of Appeals for Division I, which reversed the trial court's dismissal of this matter. The decision is reported at *Taylor v. Bell*, --- Wn. App. ---, 340 P.3d 951 (2014), and is attached as **Appendix A** hereto. The decision is cited herein as "Op. at \_\_\_." The Court of Appeals denied Cairncross's motion for reconsideration on February 9, 2015. A copy of that order is attached as **Appendix B** hereto.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. This Court has repeatedly held that three "core" factors guide a trial court's application of judicial estoppel. This Court has further held that the core factors are not exhaustive and additional considerations may guide a trial court's decision. See, e.g., Arkison v. Ethan Allen, Inc., 160 Wn.2d 535, 539, 160 P.3d 13 (2007) (citation omitted). Here, contrary to this Court's decisions, the Court of Appeals held that one of the non-core factors is a required "precondition" to application of judicial

estoppel. Are any of the non-core factors *required* to establish judicial estoppel?

- 2. If a trial court exercises its discretion to determine that judicial estoppel is warranted based on application of the three core factors, may the Court of Appeals reverse that determination based on its independent, de novo application of a non-core factor?
- 3. The non-core factor at issue in this matter is the question of whether a litigant's prior inconsistent position benefited the litigant or was accepted by the first court. If that non-core factor is in fact a *required* precondition to application of judicial estoppel, must a party seeking to establish judicial estoppel show that the position was expressly accepted by the first court, or is it sufficient to show that the position was advanced to the first court and that the litigant obtained a favorable result?
- 4. Here, despite extensive Washington authority establishing that a trial court's application of judicial estoppel is reviewed for abuse of discretion, the Court of Appeals stated that the standard of review was "not self-evident." Is the application of judicial estoppel by a trial court at summary judgment reviewed for abuse of discretion or de novo?
- 5. The Court of Appeals stated that it need not determine the correct standard of review because, under either standard of review, it believed the trial court's decision to be erroneous. If the correct standard

of review is abuse of discretion, did the Court of Appeals need to perform an abuse of discretion analysis before reversing the trial court?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Introduction

This case arises out of a transaction that occurred two decades ago. In the transaction, Cairncross represented Appellant Reed Taylor. The transaction ultimately led to numerous lawsuits. Prior to suing Cairncross, Taylor pursued four other lawsuits against thirteen other defendants (certain of those lawsuits continue to this day). It was Taylor's sworn statements in those prior lawsuits that led to the trial court's application of judicial estoppel.

#### B. The Transaction

Taylor founded AIA, an insurance-related business based in Idaho. CP 588 ¶ 4. Taylor eventually decided to exit the business, and the remaining shareholders, including Taylor's brother John Taylor, elected to have AIA redeem Taylor's shares. In March 1995, Taylor retained Cairncross to represent him in connection with the redemption of his AIA shares. CP 34-35 ¶ 3. AIA's board minutes reflect that the board advised

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Confusingly, there are several individuals associated with this matter with the last name of Taylor: (1) Respondent Reed Taylor; (2) John Taylor (Reed Taylor's brother); and (3) Petitioner Frank Taylor. For the sake of simplicity, Reed Taylor is referred to herein as "Taylor." References to the other Taylors include their first names.

Taylor to obtain outside counsel, apparently because Taylor's personal lawyer, Richard Riley, was representing AIA in the transaction.<sup>2</sup> CP 89.

Cairncross lawyer Scott Bell had primary responsibility for the transaction. CP 35 ¶ 4. Mr. Bell is an accomplished transactional lawyer, with over 30 years of experience in corporate finance and business transactions. CP 34 ¶ 2. Frank Taylor, then an associate attorney at Cairncross, assisted Mr. Bell. CP 35 ¶ 4.

During negotiation of the stock redemption documents, Cairncross focused on issues concerning AIA's solvency and its corporate authority to proceed with the transaction. CP 1324-1326. Given those concerns, Cairncross determined that, as a condition of the redemption, AIA's counsel (Eberle Berlin), should deliver to Taylor a written legal opinion regarding certain key issues. CP 35 ¶ 6. In an affidavit that Taylor solicited from Scott Bell, relied on in an Idaho suit against AIA, and never disputed until the instant lawsuit, Bell explained the role of the Eberle Berlin opinion letter:

During the course of my firm's representation of Reed Taylor, my firm determined that, as a condition to the redemption, AIA Services Corporation's outside counsel should deliver to Reed Taylor a written legal opinion regarding certain legal matters surrounding the

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  Mr. Riley was at the time a lawyer at the Eberle Berlin firm in Boise. CP 1330. He has since moved to another Boise firm, Hawley Troxell. CP 252-53 ¶ 2; 470 ¶ 3.

redemption. Reed Taylor agreed with this assessment. Eberle, Berlin was in a position to analyze whether, with respect to AIA Services Corporation, the transactions were authorized, complied with applicable Idaho laws, triggered complications with third parties, etc. Without access to the confidential books, records and proceedings of AIA Services Corporation, and not being a licensed Idaho lawyer, my firm was not in a position to make these determinations. Moreover, in my experience, it is customary for the party seeking to redeem shares [AIA] and its counsel to carry out the 'due diligence' associated with determining the legal viability of the redemption. Richard Riley was extremely well-versed in the legal. financial and operational affairs of AIA Services Corporation as a result of his long-standing relationship with the company. With the advice from my firm, Reed Taylor determined that he should receive a legal opinion from Eberle, Berlin, who had superior knowledge of AIA Services Corporation's legal affairs, to confirm AIA Services Corporation's legal ability to honor its obligations under the redemption. In my experience, a written legal opinion in these circumstances is appropriate and normal. Mr. Riley and Eberle, Berlin agreed to provide the opinion. ...

#### CP 1331 ¶ 8 (emphasis added).

The form of Eberle Berlin's opinion letter, drafted by Cairncross, included standard "authority" and "enforceability" provisions. CP 1355-56 ¶¶ 2, 3. In accord with customary practice, those provisions warranted that AIA had the legal power and authority to enter into the transaction and that the redemption agreement was enforceable under Idaho law. Notably, Riley and Eberle Berlin attempted to negotiate changes to the form of the opinion letter that would have removed or modified certain key opinions, including those regarding "authority" and "enforceability." CP 1359 ¶ 6.

After Cairncross pushed back, Riley and Eberle Berlin agreed they could give the requested opinions in compliance with Idaho law, and Cairncross proceeded to close the transaction with an opinion letter in the original form it had proposed. CP 35 ¶ 7. Eberle Berlin specifically informed Taylor that the opinions expressed in its letter were for his benefit, and that Taylor could rely on them. CP 154.

Taylor understood the import of the opinion letter, and that Eberle Berlin was specifically tasked with ensuring the stock redemption was enforceable under Idaho law. As he testified in Idaho: "I relied upon Mr. Riley, Mr. Turnbow and Eberle Berlin to ensure that the redemption agreement . . . \$6 Million Promissory Note . . . and ancillary agreements and documents could be executed by AIA services and that the transaction was even permissible." CP 76 ¶ 3.

### C. AIA Defaults; Taylor Sues AIA and Idaho Counsel

Within the year following the closing of the redemption transaction, AIA defaulted on its obligations. CP 35-36 ¶ 8. Cairncross represented Taylor in a transaction to restructure those obligations, which closed in 1996. *Id.* Cairncross's involvement in the matter concluded at that point, and Cairncross provided no further legal services to Taylor. *Id.* 

After Cairncross's involvement ended, AIA failed to perform, even under the restructured agreement. In 2007, Taylor sued AIA and certain of

its officers and directors in Idaho. In 2008, certain of the defendants in that lawsuit filed a partial summary judgment motion arguing that the stock redemption agreement violated I.C. § 30-1-6, a since-repealed Idaho statute that placed restrictions on the sources of funds corporations could use to redeem shares. CP 208; CP 200-01.

In a June 17, 2009 order, CP 203-16, the Idaho trial court held the redemption agreement violated I.C. § 30-1-6 because AIA had no earned surplus at the time of the redemption, nor did it have authority under either its articles or by a majority shareholder vote to use capital surplus to fund the redemption. The court accordingly found the redemption agreement unenforceable and held that Eberle Berlin's opinion regarding enforceability was incorrect. CP 214 n.15. Taylor appealed, and on September 7, 2011, the Idaho Supreme Court affirmed the trial court. CP 219, 248.

On October 1, 2009, Taylor sued, among others, Richard Riley and Eberle Berlin. In relevant part, that lawsuit alleged that Riley and Eberle Berlin negligently drafted the opinion letter. *See, e.g.,* CP 252, 267-77. Riley, his former partner Turnbow (now deceased), and Eberle Berlin moved for summary judgment. They argued that they had no attorney-client relationship with Taylor and therefore owed him no duty.

Consistent with Bell's earlier testimony in Taylor's action against AIA, Taylor testified in opposition to Eberle Berlin's dispositive motion that, among other things:

- He "relied upon Mr. Riley, Mr. Turnbow and Eberle Berlin to provide the legal representation necessary to legally and properly complete the redemption of my shares for me and AIA Services." CP 78 ¶ 7.
- "[A]lthough Mr. Bell drafted the agreements and reviewed and approved the form of the Opinion Letter to ensure that I was protected, I relied upon Mr. Riley, Mr. Turnbow and Eberle Berlin to ensure that the Redemption Agreement ... \$6 Million Promissory Note ... and ancillary agreements and documents could be executed by AIA Services and that the transaction was even permissible." CP 76 ¶ 3.
- "It was clear to me and everyone involved that Mr. Riley, Mr. Turnbow and Eberle Berlin were representing the interests of me, the other shareholders and AIA Services to ensure that the redemption was completed properly, that all necessary shareholder consents were obtained, and that the redemption was completed in accordance with Idaho law...." CP 77 ¶ 5 (emphasis added).
- "Neither I nor AIA Services had any other attorneys retained for the purpose of providing the legal representation to ensure the redemption of my shares had all necessary consents and did not violate any laws." CP 78-79 ¶ 7 (emphasis added).

In a May 7, 2010 opinion and order, the Idaho trial court ruled that, while there was no attorney-client relationship, Eberle Berlin and its lawyers owed Taylor a duty owed in connection with the opinion letter.

CP 286. The defendants moved for reconsideration, but the trial court reaffirmed its ruling that, by virtue of the opinion letter, Riley, Turnbow, and Eberle Berlin owed a duty to Taylor as a non-client. CP 1000. That

decision was subsequently affirmed by the Idaho Supreme Court, which remanded the case for trial of Taylor's claims against Eberle Berlin. *See Taylor v. Riley*, 157 Idaho 323, 336 P.3d 256 (2014).

# D. Taylor Subsequently Sues Cairncross; the Trial Court Dismisses his Claim Based on Judicial Estoppel

On March 28, 2012, Taylor filed the instant legal malpractice case against Cairneross. On April 12, 2013, the trial court granted Cairneross's motion for summary judgment. As to Taylor's unambiguous, sworn testimony regarding the limited scope of Cairneross's representation, the trial court concluded:

Basically, what the plaintiff did in Idaho is he pointed the finger at Eberle Berlin and said: These are the Idaho lawyers who were representing me. I mean, he didn't say they were representing some third party ... he said, "They were representing me," and that no other lawyer, specifically Cairncross & Hempelmann – no other lawyer was involved. *In other words, no other lawyer had a duty*. This was done in Idaho so that he could pursue liability against those Idaho lawyers.

Now he says, "No, that's not true, I didn't mean that, and Cairncross were the other lawyers." It is a direct and irreconcilable conflict stated under oath, inconsistent with the course of dealing and all the other evidence under oath that was submitted.

Yes, Cairncross was not licensed to practice law in the state of Idaho – everybody concedes that – and that's the reason they went out and got the Eberle Berlin opinion letter. That's why it was abundantly clear ... why the plaintiff had to do that, and that's why that opinion letter, that Idaho representation, was clearly beyond the scope of their representation here in Washington.

RP 70:1-25 (emphasis added). The trial court concluded "there is no clearer case ... for application of the judicial-estoppel doctrine than the present one." RP 71:14-17. Applying the three "core' factors of judicial estoppel, the trial court determined that (1) Taylor's position was "clearly inconsistent with his earlier position" in the Idaho litigation; (2) the trial court's acceptance of that inconsistent position "would create the perception that either the Idaho court or" it was misled by Taylor; and (3) Taylor, "if not estopped, would derive an unfair advantage or impose an unfair detriment" on Cairncross as a result of his inconsistent position. CP 1064. It accordingly determined that "the doctrine of judicial estoppel bars all of Plaintiff's claims." *Id*.

On May 16, 2013, the trial court denied Taylor's motion for reconsideration. CP 1090. Taylor timely appealed.

# E. The Court of Appeals Reverses the Grant of Summary Judgment

The Court of Appeals reversed. With respect to judicial estoppel, the Court of Appeals acknowledged that the three "core" factors guide a trial court's decision to apply judicial estoppel, Op. at 11, and accepted for purposes of its opinion that Taylor's statements to the Idaho court were inconsistent with his statements to the trial court in this case. *Id.* at 12-13. It nonetheless reversed, holding that the Idaho courts had "rejected"

Taylor's statements, and that "[a]cceptance of an initial position is a **precondition** to the application of judicial estoppel." *Id.* at 13 (emphasis added). Cairncross timely moved for reconsideration, which the Court of Appeals denied. *See* App. B.

#### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. This Court Should Grant Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(1)
Because the Court of Appeals Decision, by Making a Non-Core
Factor a Precondition of Judicial Estoppel, Contravenes
Decisions of This Court.

Judicial estoppel is an equitable doctrine that precludes a party from taking inconsistent positions in separate court proceedings to gain an unfair advantage. *Arkison v. Ethan Allen, Inc.*, 160 Wn.2d 535, 538, 160 P.3d 13 (2007) (citation omitted). The doctrine is designed to preserve respect for judicial proceedings and to avoid inconsistency, duplicity, and waste of time. *Id.* (citations omitted). It prevents litigants from "playing fast and loose with the courts." *Haslett v. Planck*, 140 Wn. App. 660, 665, 166 P.3d 866 (2007) (citations omitted).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As made clear in its motion for reconsideration, Cairncross maintains that, even if acceptance by the first court were a *required* element of judicial estoppel, the Court of Appeals erred in finding that the Idaho courts "rejected" Taylor's position. Resp'ts' Mot. for Recons. at 9-10, *Taylor v. Bell*, No. 70414-1-I (Wash. Ct. App. Jan. 20, 2015) (hereinafter Mot. for Recons.). In fact, the Idaho courts accepted Taylor's position in holding that he had a cause of action against Eberle Berlin, and Cairncross should have prevailed even if the applicable standard required acceptance by the first court. *See* Section V.C, *infra*.

In *Arkison*, this Court held that three "core" factors guide a trial court's determination of whether to apply judicial estoppel. Those three factors are (1) whether a party's later position is "clearly inconsistent" with an earlier position; (2) whether judicial acceptance of the inconsistent position in a later proceeding would create a perception that either the first or second court was misled; and (3) whether the parties seeking to assert an inconsistent position would derive an unfair advantage or impose an unfair detriment on the opposing party if not estopped. *Arkison*, 160 Wn.2d at 538-539 (citation omitted). The Court noted that the three core factors are not exhaustive, and additional considerations "*may* guide a court's decision." *Id.* at 539 (citing *Markley v. Markley*, 31 Wn.2d 605, 614-615, 198 P.2d 486 (1948)).<sup>4</sup>

The six *Markley* factors have been criticized as inappropriately injecting ordinary estoppel principles designed to protect litigants into a doctrine designed to protect the integrity of the courts. *See, e.g., Johnson v. Si-Cor Inc.*, 107 Wn. App. 902, 907-908, 28 P.3d 832 (2001) (discussing criticisms of the *Markley* factors). They have nonetheless

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In a concurrence, Justice Sanders criticized the court's allowance of additional considerations (and specifically, the six *Markley* factors) as "amorphous" and creating "unnecessary pliability in a system that prefers predictability." *Arkison*, 160 Wn.2d at 542 (Sanders, J., concurring). Justice Sanders went on to note that the three core factors "supply all the elements a trial court needs to determine whether judicial estoppel applies." *Id.* at 543.

continued to play an ambiguous role in Washington's application of judicial estoppel, with some appellate decisions invoking them and others seemingly ignoring them. Notably, this Court's post-*Arkison* decisions have consistently focused on the three core factors without reference to the additional *Markley* factors, and have not recognized any of the *Markley* factors as necessary prerequisites to application of the doctrine.

The first *Markley* factor is at issue in this case. *Markley* framed the first factor as whether the inconsistent position asserted to the first court was "successfully maintained." *Markley*, 31 Wn.2d at 614-15. Over time, the formulation of the first factor has undergone a modest evolution. In *Witzel v. Tena*, 48 Wn.2d 628, 295 P.2d 1115 (1956), the Court (framing the defense as "equitable estoppel" or "estoppel *in pais*" rather than judicial estoppel) noted that a party could be estopped from pleading

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Compare CHD, Inc. v. Taggart, 153 Wn. App. 94, 101, 220 P.3d 229 (2009) (analyzing judicial estoppel using three Arkison factors without reference to additional factors) with Lee ex rel. Office of Grant Cnty. Prosecuting Attorney v. Jasman, 183 Wn. App. 27, 69-70, 332 P.3d 1106 (2014) review granted sub nom. Lee v. Jasman, 342 P.3d 327 (2015) (noting additional considerations for application of judicial estoppel, including whether litigant was "successful in maintaining the first position" such that it was adopted by the first court).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See, e.g., In re Estate of Hambleton, 181 Wn.2d 802, 833 n.5, 335 P.3d 398 (2014) (holding that the three Arkison factors guide judicial estoppel, without reference to any additional factors); Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package Sys., Inc., 174 Wn.2d 851, 861, 281 P.3d 289 (2012) (analyzing judicial estoppel using three Arkison factors, without reference to additional considerations); Jones v. State, Dep't of Health, 170 Wn.2d 338, 370 n.4, 242 P.3d 825 (2010) (Madsen, J., dissenting) (noting three principle inquiries without reference to additional factors); Ashmore v. Estate of Duff, 165 Wn.2d 948, 951-52, 205 P.3d 111 (2009) (same), as amended (June 4, 2009).

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