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

core elements articulated in New Hampshire and has directly or indirectly 

14 In re Estate of Hambleton, 181 Wn.2d 802, 833 n.5, 335 P.3d 398 
(2014) (quoting Arkison, 160 Wn.2d at 538-39 and New Hampshire, 532 U.S. 
at 750-51); Miller, 164 Wn.2d at 539 (quotingArkison, 160 Wn.2d at 538-39 
and New Hampshire, 532 U.S. at 750-51 ); Arkison, 160 Wn.2d at 538-39 
(quoting New Hampshire, 532 U.S. at 750-51); Anfinson, 174 Wn.2d at 861-
62, 865 (quotingArkison, 160 Wn.2d at 538-39 and New Hampshire, 532 U.S. 
at 750-51). 

15 Kellar v. Estate of Kellar, 172 Wn. App. 562, 580, 291 P.3d 906 
(2012) review denied 178 Wn.2d 1025, 312 P.3d 652 (2013) (citing Arkison, 
160 Wn.2d at 538-39); Skinner v. Holgate, 141 Wn. App. 840, 848, 173 P.3d 
300 (2007) ("whether the party successfully persuaded a court to accept the 
party's earlier position but then creates the perception that the courts was 
misled when it adopts a later, inconsistent position") (citing New Hampshire, 
532 U.S. at 750-51); Lee ex. Rei. Office of Grant County Prosecuting 
Attorney v. Jasman, 183 Wn. App. 27, 69, 332 P.3d 1106 (2014) review 
granted (citation omitted) ("a party [must have] succeeded in persuading a 
court to accept that party's earlier position so that judicial acceptance of an 
inconsistent position in a later proceeding would create the perception that 
either the first or the second court has been misled") (citing New Hampshire, 
532 U.S. at 750-51 ). 
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followed them even since. E.g., Miller, 164 Wn.2d at 539; Anfinson, 174 

Wn.2d at 861-62. Not a single Washington appellate court has declined to 

follow, let alone distinguish, New Hampshire for the second core element. 

While it is true that one of the five Markley factors is that the 

inconsistent position must have been "successfully maintained," Markley v. 

Markley, 31 Wn.2d 605, 614-15, 198 P.2d 486 (1948), none of the 

Washington cases cited by the Court of Appeals in its decision cited or 

quoted to Markley as authority that a position must have been accepted and 

neither does New Hampshire. Op. at 11-12. In sum, Cairncross' arguments 

are based on the misconception that the requirement that a prior inconsistent 

position must be accepted is a Markley factor, instead of a separate and 

distinct precondition for the application of judicial estoppel, which is part 

of the second core element-as the U.S. Supreme Court held in New 

Hampshire, 532 U.S. at 750-51. Thus, the Court of Appeals' decision does 

not conflict with a decision of the United States Supreme Court, this Court 

or the courts of appeal. RAP 13.4(b)(l)-(2). 

D. Assuming this Court Had Never Held that an Inconsistent Position 
Must Have Been Accepted by a Prior Court as a Precondition for 
Judicial Estoppel, the Court of Appeals' Decision Is Still Consistent 
with the Decisions of this Court and the Courts of Appeal. 

Assuming arguendo that the this Court has never held that 

acceptance of a position is a precondition as stated by the Court of Appeals 

in its decision, Op. at 11-12, there is still no conflict between its decision 
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and any decision of this Court. Once again, review should be denied. 

"[T]here is a consensus among the courts of appeal that judicial 

estoppel may be applied only in the event that a litigant's prior inconsistent 

position ... was accepted by a court." Op. at 11 (citations omitted). 

The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any decision 

of this Court or the courts of appeal. Op. at 11-12 (citations omitted). See 

supra at Sections A-C. This Court has never held that a trial court may apply 

judicial estoppel even if the alleged prior inconsistent position was not 

accepted and Caimcross cites no Washington authority to the contrary to 

establish a conflict. Caimcross has simply failed to meet it burden to 

establish that the Court of Appeal's decision conflicts with any decision of 

this Court or the courts of appeal. RAP 13.4(b)(l)-(2). 

E. The Court of Appeals Never Addressed or Relied Upon Any of the 
Non-Core Factors as a Basis for Its Decision. 

Caimcross argues that this "Court should accept review to clarify 

the proper role of the secondary factors, and to eliminate confusion created 

by the Court of Appeals' use of a secondary factor to reverse a ruling based 

on application of the three core factors." Pet. at 16. Caimcross' arguments 

mischaracterize the Court of Appeals' decision and are without merit. 

The Court of Appeals never addressed or applied any of the non-

core "additional considerations" or the Markley factors. Op. at 9-13. In fact, 

it declined to address the Markley factors or additional considerations. Id. 
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at 11 n.12. Instead, the Court of Appeals reversed on the well-settled rule of 

law that judicial estoppel does not apply unless an alleged inconsistent 

position was accepted by a prior court. !d. at 11-13. Moreover, there is no 

clarification or conflict anyway because this Court has already held that 

additional considerations "may" guide a court's decision, even though they 

were not used to guide the trial court or Court of Appeals' decision here. 16 

Op. at 11 n.12, 9-13; CP 1064. Finally, the cases Cairncross cites, Little v. 

King, 160 W n.2d 696, 161 P .3d 345 (2007) and Stevenson v. Grentec, Inc., 

652 F .2d 20 (9th Cir. 1981 ), do not even relate to judicial estoppel. !d.; Pet. 

at 13-15; Op. at 9-13. Thus, the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict 

with any decision of this Court or the courts of appeal. RAP 13.4(b)(l)-(2). 

F. There Is No Clarification Required as to what Constitutes 
"Acceptance" for Judicial Estoppel Because Taylor's Position Was 
Not Inconsistent and the Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded 
that Cairncross' Characterization of Taylor's Testimony Was 
Never Accepted by the Idaho Court. 

Cairncross argues that it is unclear what constitutes acceptance by 

the first court. Pet. at 17. Once again, Cairncross' arguments lack merit. 

As set forth in Sections B-E, there is a consensus among this Court 

and the three Divisions of the Courts of Appeal that judicial estoppel may 

16 E.g., In re Estate of Hambleton, 181 Wn.2d at 833 n.5; Arkison, 150 
Wn.2d at 539. 
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only apply if an alleged inconsistent position was accepted by a prior court. 

The determination of whether an alleged inconsistent position was 

accepted is no different than a determination of a fact in any case. The 

burden was on Caimcross, the party invoking judicial estoppel, to prove that 

an alleged inconsistent position, whether maintained in pleadings or through 

testimony, was accepted. !d.; CR 56(b)-(c). Caimcross failed to meet that 

burden. Op. at 9-13. The Court of Appeals held that "[e]ven assuming, 

without deciding, that Caimcross's characterization of Taylor's litigation 

theory in Idaho is accurate, we conclude that this theory was not accepted 

in that proceeding"-there can be no clearer determination that a position 

was rejected. Op. at 9. Moreover, the Court of Appeals actually rejected 

Caimcross' characterization of Taylor's testimony when it refused to affirm 

on the grounds that there was a limited scope of representation: "the record 

reveals that whether Taylor agreed to a limited scope of representation 

presents, at best for Caimcross, a disputed question of fact." Op. at 19. It 

also held that Taylor had not taken the position in the Idaho court that 

"Eberle represented 'his only potential source of recovery."' Op. at 12 n.l4 

(quoting Resp'ts Br. at 25-26). 

Indeed, not only was Caimcross' characterization of Taylor's 

alleged inconsistent testimony rejected by the Idaho court, but the Idaho 

trial court expressly found, without qualification (e.g., there was no limited 
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scope of representation), that Taylor was represented by his "separate 

counsel," Caimcross, and he had no attorney-client relationship with Eberle. 

CP 280, 286, 943, 988, 998-l 000. There can be no clearer example of a 

court not accepting an alleged inconsistent position than when the Idaho 

court did not expressly or implicitly find that Taylor had a limited scope of 

representation with Caimcross-the same sentence of testimony that 

Caimcross relied upon for its judicial estoppel argument. !d.; Op. at 12, 20. 

App.' s Br. at 13-33; Reply Br. at 1-16. 

Caimcross' reliance on Witzel, 48 Wn.2d at 633, is misplaced. In 

that case, the inconsistent position was made in pleadings, which is 

precisely why this Court only addressed pleadings in Witzel. !d. In the Idaho 

trial court, Taylor never took any inconsistent positions in his pleadings or 

complaint. E.g., CP 267-77, 962-86. Caimcross' allegations pertained 

solely to one sentence of Taylor's testimony, succinctly addressed by the 

Court of Appeals when it refused to affirm on the grounds that there was an 

alleged limited scope of representation. Op. at 18-25; CP 74-84. 

Thus, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the Idaho court 

had not accepted Caimcross' characterization of Taylor's testimony and 

judicial estoppel does not apply-no clarification is necessary-which is 

consistent with the decisions of this Court and the courts of appeal. RAP 

13.4(b)(l)-(2). As such, this Court should deny review. 
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G. The Correct Standard of Review for Judicial Estoppel Is a Moot 
Issue Because the Court of Appeals Reversed Under Both the De 
Novo and Abuse of Discretion Standards of Review. 

Caimcross argues the Court of Appeals utilized the incorrect 

standard of review and failed to conduct a proper abuse of discretion 

analysis Pet. at 18-20. Caimcross' arguments are, once again, without merit. 

It is well-settled in this Court and the courts of appeal that 

'" [p ]rinciples of judicial restraint dictate that if resolution of an issue 

effectively disposes of a case, [the appellate court] should resolve the case 

on that basis without reaching any other issues that might be presented."' 17 

The Court of Appeals properly disposed of this case without 

resolving the issue over the correct standard of review for judicial estoppel: 

Given that Taylor appeals from an order granting summary 
judgment that was based, in part on the application of 
judicial estoppel, the proper standard for reviewing the trial 
court's order is not self-evident. However, because we 
conclude that, under either standard of review, the 
challenged ruling was erroneous, we need not resolve the 
conflict noted. 

Op. at 12 n.l3. While Taylor and Caimcross dispute the correct standard of 

review for judicial estoppel, the Court of Appeals properly refused to reach 

17 Hayden v. Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co., 141 Wn.2d 55, 68, 1 P.3d 
1167 (2000) (citation omitted); Cena v. Dept. of Labor and Industries, 121 
Wn. App. 915, 924, 91 P.3d 903 (2004); To-Ro Trade Shows v. Collins, 100 
Wn. App. 483, 490, 997 P.2d 960 (2000) affirmed 144 Wn.2d 403, 27 P.3d 
1149 (200 1 ); Priorities First v. City of Spokane, 93 Wn. App. 406, 413-14, 
968 P.2d 431 (1998) review denied 137 Wn.2d 1035,980 P.2d 1284 (1999). 
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the issue because it held that the trial court erred under both the de novo and 

abuse of discretion standards of review. ld.; App.'s Br. at 11 n.7, 12-13; 

Reply Br. at 7; Resp'ts' Br. at 16. The Court of Appeals' decision was 

consistent with the decisions of this Court and the courts of appeals. RAP 

13.4(b )(1 )-(2). Thus, the standard of review issue is moot. See infra at n.21. 

Next, the Court of Appeals was not required to engage in any 

discussion over issues pertaining to the trial court's abuse of discretion 

because it correctly found that the trial court misapplied judicial estoppel. 

It is well-settled among this Court and the courts of appeal that a 

trial court abuses its discretion when it misapplies the law. 18 

The Court of Appeals was only required to determine whether the 

trial court misapplied the Jaw, which is precisely what it did: "the trial 

court's grant of summary judgment was based upon a mistaken application 

of judicial estoppel," Op. at 9 (foot note omitted), and "the trial court erred 

in basing summary judgment on the application of the doctrine of judicial 

estoppel." !d. at 13. The Court of Appeals held that the trial court misapplied 

the law for judicial estoppel by applying the doctrine even though 

18 Haundtofte v. Encarnacion, 181 Wn.2d 1, 18,330 P.3d 168 (2014); 
Hisle v. Todd Pacific Shipyards Corp., 113 Wn. App. 401, 427, 54 P.3d 687 
(2002); In re BRSH, 141 Wn. App. 39, 49, 169 P.3d 40 (2007); In re Jannot, 
110 Wn. App. 16, 22, 37 P.3d 1265 (2002). 
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Cairncross' characterization of Taylor's testimony had not been accepted 

by the Idaho court, which is an abuse of discretion. !d. at 9, 13. Lastly, the 

Court of Appeals did not "afford any discretion" to the trial court, Pet. at 

19-20, because it abused its discretion by misapplying the law for judicial 

estoppel. Op. at 9, 13. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with 

any decision of this Court and the courts of appeal. RAP 13.4(b)(l)-(2). 

H. Cairncross' Failure to Limit Its Scope of Representation of Taylor 
and Failure to Seek Review of that Issue before this Court Renders 
any Alleged Inconsistency Groundless and Moot. 

Cairncross argues "this Court should reverse the Court of Appeals 

and reinstate the trial court's summary judgment dismissal," Pet. at 20, but 

it has abandoned the issues required for reinstatement of that decision. 

This Court "will review only the questions raised in the [petition]." 19 

A petition must state "the precise relief sought."20 An appeal is moot when 

"it presents purely academic issues and where it is not possible for the court 

to provide effective relief."21 This Court does not give advisory opinions. 22 

Cairncross has abandoned numerous issues on review: (1) the first 

19 RAP 13.7(b); McCleary v. State, 173 Wn.2d 477,487,269 P.3d 227 
(2012). 

20 RAP 13.4(b )(8). 
21 Klickitat County Citizens Against Imported Waste v. Klickitat 

County, 122 Wn.2d 619,631, 860 P.2d 390 (1993). 
22 In re Welfare of A.B., 168 Wn.2d 908,925 n.31, 232 P.3d 1104 

(201 0). 
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and third core elements of judicial estoppel; (2) an alleged limited scope of 

representation; and (3) proximate causation. Pet. at 1-20; Op. at 9-15. Thus, 

Caimcross' appeal is rendered moot by failing to seek review from the 

Court of Appeals' decision refusing to address the other two core elements 

and the refusal to affirm on the grounds Caimcross had a limited scope of 

representation-which pertains to the same sentence of Taylor's testimony 

that Caimcross relied upon for judicial estoppel. Op. at 12, 20, 18-25. 

While the Court of Appeals did not directly address Taylor's 

testimony in its judicial estoppel analysis, it did address the testimony when 

it held: "the record reveals that whether Taylor agreed to a limited scope of 

representation presents, at best for Caimcross, a disputed question of fact." 

Op. at 19. The Court of Appeals further held: "Together, the foregoing 

evidence [of work performed and billing records] suggests that after 

Caimcross and Taylor entered into a general fee agreement, they did not 

subsequently agree to limit the scope of Caimcross' representation." Op. at 

20. However, the death nail to judicial estoppel was delivered when the 

Court of Appeals held: "McDermott opined that Caimcross's purported 

limited scope of representation would have been 'unreasonable' and would 

have left Taylor inadequately represented. This also raises an issue in need 

of resolution as to whether Caimcross could provide Taylor with limited 

representation." Op. at 19. In other words, assuming arguendo that 
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Cairncross' characterization of Taylor's testimony was correct and it was 

actually accepted, the purported limited scope of representation would have 

been unreasonable and judicial estoppel should still not apply to bar 

Taylor's claims here. CP 551-52, 768-70; RPC 1.1; RPC 1.2(c); 

RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF LAW GOVERNING LA WYERS § 19(1 ). 

Because Cairncross has abandoned issues required to affirm the trial 

court and concedes that the alleged limited scope of representation is, at best 

for it, a question of fact, Cairncross' appeal regarding judicial estoppel is 

moot because it cannot, as a matter of law, establish that Taylor's position 

was "clearly inconsistent"-a requirement to reinstate the trial court's 

decision-assuming arguendo that the criteria for review was present 

(which they are not). Pet. at 20; Op. at 11, 12 n.l4, 18-25. Anfinson, 174 

Wn.2d at 861. These issues alone warrant the denial of review. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons articulated above, the Court of Appeals' unanimous 

decision does not conflict with any of decisions of this Court or the courts 

of appeal. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). Thus, this Court should deny review.